

University of Nebraska Medical Center DigitalCommons@UNMC

# **MD** Theses

**Special Collections** 

1967

# Anergy : depressed delayed hypersensitivity in Hodgkin's Disease

Galen Dean Marks University of Nebraska Medical Center

This manuscript is historical in nature and may not reflect current medical research and practice. Search PubMed for current research.

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/mdtheses

## **Recommended Citation**

Marks, Galen Dean, "Anergy : depressed delayed hypersensitivity in Hodgkin's Disease" (1967). *MD Theses*. 2920. https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/mdtheses/2920

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Special Collections at DigitalCommons@UNMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in MD Theses by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNMC. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@unmc.edu.

## ANERGY - DEPRESSED DELAYED HYPERSENSITIVITY IN HODGKIN'S DISEASE

Galen Dean Marks

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment for the Degree of Doctor of Medicine College of Medicine, University of Nebraska

February 1, 1967

Omaha, Nebraska

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	•	•	• 1
Delayed Hypersensitivity	•	•	. 1
Immune Reactivity-delayed type	•	•	. 1
Antigen Distribution • • • • • • • • • • •			
Tissue Response in delayed hypersensitivity			
Skin testing for delayed hypersensitivity.			
Anergy			
Definition and tests for anergy			
Occurance and variations of anergy in			
Hodgkin's and other diseases	•	•	. 6
Fluctuations in the anergic state			
Cellular transfer of hypersensitivity			
Transfer factor			
Degrading immunocompetent cells			
Non-antibody plasma factor			
The status of lymphocyte cellular responses			
The Thymus			
Homograft reaction			
Bibliography	•	•	

#### Introduction

One of the several immunological abnormalities developing in Hodgkin's disease is that of anergy. In order to attempt an understanding of anergy, it's manifestations, fluctuations, and possible etiology, it is first necessary to review delayed hypersensitivity.

Delayed Hypersensitivity

Immune reactivity - delayed type

Ŀ

Immune reactivity is characteristically divided into immediate or delayed type. The distinction is important since the two are probably mediated by different mechanisms. The immediate hypersensitivity reaction is mediated by antibody, and the delayed hypersensitivity reaction by cells (1). Two prototypes are recognized in delayed hypersensitivity, that of infective, with Tuberculosis as the classic example, and contact sensitivity which includes a variety of substances ranging from chemicals to oily resins of plants as allergens. Investigations of infective sensitivity reveal the protein moiety of bacteria and virus, and the polysaccharide moiety of fungus to be the sensitizing constituents (23). In contact sensitivity the sensitizing constituents were found to be those which were able to combine with proteins of the epidermis (8). Arguments favoring cell mediation of delayed hypersensitivity vs. blood protein

mediation are cited by Chase (9). First, he demonstrated that delayed reactivity could not be transfered from a sensitive to a normal subject by means of serum, but it can be passed by cells obtained from lymphoid tissue, peritoneal exudate or peripheral blood. These cells are lymphoid in origin as indicated in successful transferes, and small lymphocytes are probably most active as evidenced by their accumulations in developing tuberculin reactions. Tritiated thymidine labeled cell studies have substantiated this finding (20). Secondly, it is noted in clinical states such as Mypogammaglobulinemia that antibody production is virtually indetectable while delayed hypersensitivity is intact. Conversely, in Hodgkin's disease (predominantly early Hodgkin's) there is no detectable antibody deficiency, yet there is depressed delayed hypersensitivity.

#### Antigen distribution

In a recent paper by Nossal and Abbot (21), isotope labeled and electron microscope studies of antigens IN VIVO revealed a localization of antigen in the draining lymph node following subcutaneous injection. More specifically, the lymph node medullary macrophages seemed to avidly phagocytize the antigens. Heavy labelling was observed over the lymphoid follicles in the cortex of the nodes. Electron microscope findings in close study of the lymphoid follicles showed the antigen to appear

to be predominantly associated with cell membranes of the fine reticular cell processes. Small lymphocytes were sometimes noted to cluster around heavy antigen depot sites and occasionally small amounts of label could be seen in the nucleus of small lymphocytes. From these observations, one "may postulate that antigen is released from the reticular cell depot, penetrates the lymphocyte nucleus and plays an inductive role". With antigen localized in follicles, it is in effect captured and retained on the surface of a complex network of fine cell processes. This suggests that antigen may persist, undenatured and highly accessable to adjacent lymphocytes. Rats deprived of small lymphocytes by chronic thoracic duct drainage fail to respond to a primary antigenic stimulus.

## Tissue response in delayed hypersensitivity

Aisenberg (1) has established ground rules in the study of delayed allergy, limiting the phenomenon to skin reactions and the slow evolution of such reactions over a period of 24 to 48 or more hours after application of the antigen. This criterion is useful in differentiating delayed responses from antibody mediated Arthus skin reactions as well as eliminating Jones-Mote reactivity, an antigen-antibody complex, as a possible inducer of true delayed hypersensitivity. Subsequent studies by Raffel and Newel (23) proved that the antigen alone as a soluble protein

administered by any route fulfilled some of the criterion for delayed Jones-Mote reactivity, but found this to be a transient phase that was subsequently replaced by a typical Arthus responsiveness and circulating antibodies.

## Skin testing for delayed hypersensitivity

Delayed hypersensitivity is assessed by the use of skin tests employing derivatives of allergens that evoke the response. In years past delayed hypersensitivity has largely been evaluated by tuberculin skin tests; however with fewer people in the general populace showing no reactivity to this test it has been necessary to use other allergens, some determined by locale where possibility of exposure is greatest. Some of the delayed type allergens that have been and are being used include Purified Tuberculoprotein (PPD), Mumps skin test, Candida Albicans, Trichophyton, Coccidiodes Immitis and Histoplasma Capsulatum. Another technique is that of induced sensitization, which eliminates the problem of people who have possibly never been exposed to the above allergens. These include use of the BCG and dinitrochlorobenzene sensitization. The use of dinitrochlorobenzene has shown almost universal positive results in normal patients and the technique (2) is such that implementation of its use as a control in skin testing as well as specific studies in anergy should be more widely considered and accepted. Positive reactions

occur three weeks following primary sensitization by applying a weak solution of DNCB that simulates a delayed response in most respects, save for a vesicle formation that occurs in many instances. Another interesting technique is that of the use of depot tuberculin (7). This is the use of tuberculin emulsified in lanolin, then blended with paraffin oil, that can detect reactivity in persons with BCG vaccination.

#### Anergy

#### Definition and tests for Amergy

Having established some basic concept of what is known of delayed hypersensitivity a consideration of anergy or depression of delayed hypersensitivity is in order. Aisenberg (1) defines anergy as an "immunological defect occurring early in active Hodgkin's disease characterized by depression of delayed hypersensitivity and assessed by negative reaction to a battery of skin allergens". The basic defect appears to be peripheral i.e. a manifestation of abnormal lymphocyte function. This is in apposition to a central failure. Depression of delayed hypersensitivity in the face of essentially normal antibody formation and recovery of skin allergy during disease remission imply an intact central mechanism. Abnormalities of Hodgkin's lymphocytes IN VITRO and after transfer studies support this contention. There seems to be general agreement among authors

that the lymphocyte is the basic defective element in anergy, but there is conjecture about it being secondarily affected by a plasma factor (7).

Occumence and variations of Anergy in Hodgkin's and other diseases

The occurrence of anergy in various disease states has in the past offered hope of perhaps helping to establish an etiology of Hodgkin's disease. The cutaneous exanthums, in particular measles, have been noted to evoke an anergic state arousing thoughts of possible viral stiology. Neoplastic diseases where anergy has been noted include Leukemia, carcinoma, and the other lymphomas. Sarcoidosis is also commonly known to induce anergy. Interestingly Hodgkin's anergy has been noted to be somewhat unique in that it occurs very early in the active disease while the patient is in a good clinical state whereas in Carcinoma, leukemia and the other lymphomas anergy occurs late and when the patient is in a poor, nearly terminal clinical state (cachetic anergy) with leukocyte and immunoprotein abnormalities. Conversely, in Hodgkin's, anergy is noted early when the lymphoid cell is present in normal quantities and there are no demonstrable antibody deficiencies (16). Sarcoidosis anergy on the other hand, precipitated by a generalized granulomatous process can be reversed by the "depot tuberculin" technique already mentioned as well as cellular transfer of immunocompetant cells (9,17,18).

Attempts of reversing anergic states in Modgkin's by these methods however have failed. Likening of failure to exhibit tuberculin reactivity during measles or cutaneous exanthums has drawn criticism on the basis of altered skin in these viral infections. It has been noted that this failure has been induced by measles vaccine as well (28).

#### Fluctuations in the Anergic State

An observation of anergy development (24) by use of the tuberculin test in Hodgkin's disease in four instances, revealed a time of 2,3,5 and 8 months. Unfortunately, a survival time has not been established which might offer a form of prognosis. However, because of the decreased incidence of tuberculin reactivity and few instances of chance tuberculin skin testing on individuals eventually affected with Hodgkin's disease, it would appear to leave much to be desired as any kind of useful prognostic tool. Observed fluctuations in the anergic state however, do seem to reflect the activity of the disease. A reversion to tuberculin reactivity was correlated with clinical improvement, whereas continued anergy represented no change or a worsening in the clinical state (27). Aisenberg (3) states, "A recovery from anergy should represent a reversion to normal metabolic pathways within the potentially immunocompetent cells, or within other cell types in which metabolic products might arise that would affect the immunocompetency". Fluctuations

noted in anergy to the contact allergen dinitrochlorobenzene showed conversions to positive reactions by (a) irradiation therapy, (b) uniformly in patients where the disease was inactive for a period greater than two years, and(c) occasionally in patients where the disease was inactive for a period of from 2 to 24 months. Reconversion to tuberculin reactivity occurs as a result of remission by X-irradiation, alkylating agents or steriod therapy (27).

## Cellular transfer of Hypersensitivity

With Lawrence's (17) demonstration of transfer of tuberculin sensitivity by use of immunocompetant cells of humans sensitive to tuberculin, it was not long before workers began to utilize this finding attempting to demonstrate a response to cellular transfer of hypersensitivity in garcoidosis and Hodgkin's (12). The technique employed as in Lawrence's original work was by intradernal injection of dense suspensions of peripheral white cells taken from tuberculin-positive donors and testing the individuals in the same sites one day later with tuberculin in Sarcoid patients. Cellular transfer in Hodgkin's patients consisted of cells from donors who were sensitive to various test materials of microbial origin and in a few instances to DNCB. Almost universal success was encountered in sensitizing normal recipients as was that to patients with Sarcoid, at least on a transient basis, with reversion to anergic state at 3 to 4 weeks later (29). In Hodgkin's disease, in contrast, attempts at adoptive transfer

by living cells have so far failed.

#### Transfer Factor

Lawrence's use of disrupted cells gave results equivalent to those obtained by the use of intact lymphocytes in transfer of delayed hypersensitivity. The active principle was termed "transfer factor". Transfer factor can be freed from "competent" lymphocytes from the peripheral circulation by (a) water lysis or (b) soaking the cells in specific allergen, thereby serving essentially complete removal without disruption of cellular integrity. "Transfer factor" has been found to be a dialyzable, non-protein substance with a molecular weight of 10,000 which is not alterable by DNase or RNase (29).

Baram and Masko (6) have reported a dialysable substance in peripheral WBCs from PPD sensitive human donors that is capable of causing the conversion of PPD negative individuals to a positive state. This appears also to be "transfer factor" as reported by Lawrence, but allows some con jecture as to a possible antibody molecule sub-unit of the cell.

#### Degrading Immunocompetant cells

It would appear that this very significant finding in Hodgkin's patients of failure of cellular transfer of hypersensitivity by immunocompetent cells may well be a correlary to the failure of the patient's own once immunocompetent cells. Therefore it is imperative to summarize Chase's (7) ideas on degradation of

immunocompetent cells. He reasons that with failure of cellular transfer of hypersensitivity in the patient with Hodgkin's disease, some mechanism must exist whereby the immunocompetent cells or transfer factor is rendered inactive. He ventures h possible mechanisms and makes his case for a possible plasma factor other than antibodies which degrades competent cells. He rejects the possibility of complete immunocompetence of the cells in Hodgkin's disease on the basis of available mechanisms of cell destruction. These are (a) contactual agglutination - attachment of patient's lymphocytes or macrophages to the donated cells serving as the target cell and (b) an interaction that results in injury and eventual cytolysis of both the target cell and the attacking cell. This has been noted to occur by the use of lymphocytes from specifically sensitized animals and by use of peritoneal macrophages not lymphocytes and "is difficult to conceive that these mechanisms could be used by the Hodgkin's patient with the high degree of anergy with respect to delayed type sensitivities". He also doubts the possibility of continuing synthesis of an antibody directed against all white cells since autoantibody has been detected in Hodgkin's patients only with associated hemolytic anemia. Likewise the concept of immunologic unresponsiveness or "paralysis" is rejected.

Non-antibody plasma factor

A good case is made for possible presence of a non-antibody plasma factor that acts to degrade immunocompetent cells and perhaps affect "transfer factor" as well. Experiments employing immunocompetent cells incubated with mitomycin C (which blocks production of new messenger RNA) showed that after stored RNA and DNA were used, hardly any sensitivity was exhibited to allergen in injected animals. Similarly, incubation of immunocompetent cells with ribonuclease, which also interfers with protein synthesis, but does not cause cell death, resulted in a pronounced decrease in capacity to elicit hypersensitivity reactions. This offers evidence that competent cells can be altered by special environmental factors and yet remain alive. Chase thus establishes a basis for a possible plasma factor that degrades immunocompetent cells. <sup>1</sup>his seemingly opens the door for many avenues of continued and extended research in this area and has possibilities of discovery even beyond that of adding to an ehlightenment of Anergy in Hodgkin's.

#### The status of the lymphocyte-cellular responses

The cultivation of immunocompetent lymphocytes with antigen has been accomplished and results interpreted as representing delayed hypersensitivity. In one report (5) lymphocytes from tuberculinsensitive persons, cultured with tuberculin IN VITRO were found

to be stimulated to increase in size and divide. Response was measured in terms of the number of blast cells plus cells showing mitotic figures formed in 5 days. Various antigens employed include tuberculin (PPD), pertussis vaccine, tetanus toxoid, diphtheria toxoid, and penicillin. Addition of crude phytohemagglutinin causes even more dramatic responses. It has been debated whether this represents a pure delayed type hypersensitivity however. Assuming that this represents delayed sensitivity, studies by Hirschhorn (14) have shown that in patients with Hodgkin's and Sarcoidosis there is a "reduced or absent responses of their lymphocytes to specific antigens IN VITRO, mimicking their anergy IN VIVO".

Hirsh and Oppenheim (13) demonstrated that PHA was much less effective as a mitotic agent for inducing blast forms in the cells of patients with Hodgkin's than it is for normal cells, and that anergic patients with Hodgkin's disease showed less transformation with PHA than those who responded to at least 1 intradermal test material. This demonstrates that PMA response was clearly associated with the cell. However, on examination of plasma factors, a suspension of normal cells was added to the plasmas of 3 patients whose cells-plus-plasma showed impairment of PMA stimulation. In two cultures of this cell sample, mitogenic responses were normal. In the 3rd culture, the cells died in the presence of the patients plasma, a finding that led to a further

experiment of interesting outcome. The cells of the patient furnishing this plasma were transferred to normal plasma and were here found to acquire partial responsiveness to PHA. This suggests that plasma factors may be additive at times in determining a low PHA response, and adds some basis for Chase's concept of a plasma factor.

#### The Thymus

The Thymus has been shown to control the distribution of lymphocytes in the very young and has been thought to exert a measure of control even in the mature. It has been suggested to have a role in sustaining the mechanism of immunologic unresponsiveness. Thymectomized neonatal animals exhibit anergy among other immunologic abnormalities and thus warranted attention on the basis of a possible similar existing mechanism in Hodgkin's. There are some corresponding conditions in the thymectomized animal to the wasting condition which is characterized by lymphocytopenia, severe depletion of tissue lymphocytes, diarrhea and eventual death (11). Recent evidence however, particularly the absence of wasting in thymectomized germ-free animals, points to an infectious etiology of this syndrome (19). Also it seems unlikely that the thymectomy-wasting syndrome could account for the form of presentation of localized Hodgkin's disease, the histologic picture (Reed-Sternberg cells) or the chills, fever and leukocytosis of the disseminated disease (4). Aisenberg (4)

further found that thymectomy beyond the neonatal period does not lead to significant immunological impairment. Other observations in the neonatally thymectomized animal in contrast to the Hodgkin's patient are those of frequent occu**pen**ce of early lymphocyte depletion and a depression of antibody formation which may parallel the depression of delayed hypersensitivity.

#### Homograft reaction

There is not general agreement among authorities about the homograft reaction and it's possible correlary to anergy. Rejection of skin homografts is mediated by a cellular mechanism under most conditions and in Hodgkin's patients, skin homografts survival rates are reported to be abnormal in that over one half survive 30 days or longer (15). Similar findings in disease states that involve antibody depression clouds any clear cut conclusions. It is interesting that in animal studies, lymphoid cells incubated IN VITRO with homologous RNA has resulted in a heightened immunity to skin homografts (20). This may implicate a deficiency of sorts of RNA at the cellular level in homograft rejections in Hodgkin's disease.

Another line of study involving tissue transplant is that of observation of cellular response occurring in draining lymph nodes. The general reaction is that of large lymphoid cell formation occurring in the cortex 3 to 4 days later by virtue of their transformation from small lymphocytes. Particular interest has

developed in that animals rendered immunologically unresponsive to sensitization with DNCB have failed to develop any significant increase of the large lymphoid cells. This may represent a prototype of anergy, and further studies may be rewarding (7).

#### Summary

Delayed hypersensitivity has been reviewed. The single most important concept is that of antigen distribution and the postulation of its induction role on the lymphocyte from its depot site in lymphoid follicles.

The basic defect causing anergy in Hodgkin's disease appears to be that of abnormal lymphocyte function as evidenced by abnormalities exhibited by Hodgkin's lymphocytes in cell culture and transfer studies.

Anergy in Hodgkin's patients is somewhat unique in that it occurs early in the disease state as opposed to "cachetic anergy" in other neoplastic diseases. As compared to anergy in Sarcoidosis, there is no reversibility of the anergic state on a temporary basis indicating that anergy seems to be more profound in Hodgkin's disease.

Induction of anergy after disease onset has been observed to vary from 2 to 8 months. Reconversion to delayed reactivity occurs as a result of remission by X-irradiation, alkylating agents and steroid therapy. Conversions to positive reactions occures uniformly in patients where the disease is inactive for

a period greater than two years, and inconsistently where the disease is inactive from 2 to 24 months.

Attempts of cellular transfer of immunocompetent cells and "transfer factors" in Hodgkin's patients have failed. This seems to imply the existence of some mechanism that degrades immunocompetent cells and or "transfer factor". There is some evidence that possibly a non-antibody plasma factor may be responsible for the degradation of the immunocompetent transfer cells and may well represent the cause of failure of the patient's own once immunocompetent cells.

The study of thymectomized neonatal animals and homograft reactions in animals seems to substantiate the role of the lymphocyte in anergy. There are indications of cellular RNA deficiencies in Hodgkin's lymphocytes in homograft studies.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Aisenberg, A.C., Immunologis status of Hodgkin's disease, Cancer 19:385-92, 1966.
- 2. \_\_\_\_\_, Studies on delayed hypersensitivity in Modgkin's \_\_\_\_\_\_ disease, J. Clin. Invest. 41:1964-70,1962.
- 3. \_\_\_\_\_, Hodgkin's Disease-Prognosis, Treatment and Etiologic and Immunologic Considerations, New Eng. J. Med. 270:508-14, 565-70, 617-22, 1964.
- 4. Aisenberg, A.C. and Wilkes, B., Immunologic status of thymectomized adult mats, J. Immunol. 93:75-80, 1964.
- 5. Bach, F. and Hirschhorn, K., The IN VITRO Immune Response of Peripheral blood Lymphocytes, Seminars Hematol.2:68-69,1965.
- Baram, P. and Masko, M.M., A Dialysable Fraction from Tuberculin-sensitive Human White Blood Cells Capable of Inducing Tuberculin-delayed Hypersensitivity in Negative Recipients, Immunology 8:561-74, 1965.
- Chase, M.W., Delayed-type Hypersensitivity and the Immunology of Hodgkin's Disease, with a Parallel Examination of Sarcoidosis, Cancer Res. 26:1097-1120, 1966.
- 8. \_\_\_\_\_, Chemical considerations of drug hypersensitivity. In Brown, E.A. (Ed.) Allergology (Proc. 4th Internat. Congr.) London: Pergamon Press, 1962.
- 9. \_\_\_\_\_, The Cellular transfer of cutaneous hypersensitivity to tuberculin, Proc. Soc. Exp. Bio. Med. 59:134, 1945.
- 10. \_\_\_\_, Delayed Sensitivity, Med. Clin. North Am. 49:1613-46, 1965.
- 11. Good, R.A., Dalnasso, A.P., Martinez, C., Archer, O.K., Pierce, J.C., and Papermaster, B.E., The role of the thymus in development of immunologic capacity in rabbits and mice, J. Exp. Med. 116:773-796, 1962.
- 12. Good, R.A., Kelly, W.D., Rotstein, J., and Varco, R.L., Hodgkin's Disease and other Lymphomas, Progr. Allergy 6:275-291, 1962.
- 13. Hersh, E.M. and Oppenheim, J.J., Impaired IN VITRO Lymphocyte Transformation in Hodgkin's Diaease, New Engl. J. Med., 273:1006-12, 1965

- 14. Hirschhorn, K., Bach, F., Kalodny, R.L., Firschein, I.L. and Hashem, N., Immune Response and Mitosis of Human Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes IN VITRO, Science 142:1185-86, 1963.
- 15. Kelly, W.D., Lamb, D.L., Varco, R.L. and Good, R.A., An investigation of Hodgkin's disease with respect to the problem of homotransplantation, Ann N.Y. Acad. Sci. 87:187-202, 1960.
- 16. Lamb, D., Pilney, R., Kelly, W.D. and Good, R.A., A Comparative Study of the incidence of anergy in patients with Carcinoma Hodgkin's disease and other lymphomas, J. Immunol. 89:555-558, 1962.
- 17. Lawrence, H.S., The Cellular Transfer of Cutaneous Hypersensitivity to Tuberculin in Man, Proc. Soc. Exptl. Biol. Med. 71:516-22, 1949.
- The Cellular Transfer in Humans of Delayed Cutaneous Reactivity to Hemolytic Streptococci, J. Immunol. 68:159-78, 1952.
- 19. McIntire, K.R., Sell, S., and Miller, J.F.A.P., Pathogenesis of post-thymestomy wasting syndrome, Nature 204:151-55,1964.
- 20. Mannick, J.A. and Egdahl, R.H., Transfer of Heightened Immunity to Skin Homografts by Lymphoid RNA, Journ. of Clin. Invest. 43:2166-77, 1964.
- 21. Najarian, J.S. and Feldman, J.D., Passive Transfer of Contact Sensitivity by Tritiated Thymidine-Labeled Lymphoid Cells, Jour. of Exp. Med. 117:775-80, 1963.
- 22. Nossal, G.J.V. and Abbot, A., Lymphoid Cells and Antibody Formation, Paper presented at the XIth Congress of the International Society of Haemetology, Plenary Sessions, Sydney:Victor C.N. Blight, 1966.
- 23. Raffel, S. and Newel, J. M., The "delayed hypersensitivity" induced by antigen-antibody complexes, J. Exp.Med. 108:823, 1958.
- 24. Rottino, A. and Moffman, G.T., Studies of Immunological Reactions of Patients with Hodgkins disease: the Tuberculin reaction, Am. J. Med. Scil 220:662-64, 1950.

- 25. Ruffel, Sidney, Delayed (Cellular) Hypersensitivity. In Sampter, M. (Ed.) Immunological Diseases, Boston: Little, Brown, and Co., 1965.
- 26. Schier, W.W., Roth, A., Ostroff, G., and Schrift, M., Hodgkin's Disease and Immunity, Am.J. Med. 20:94-99, 1956.
- 27. Sokol, J.E. and Primikirios, N., The Delayed Skin Test Response in Hodgkin's Disease and Lymphosarcoma. Effect of Disease activity, Cancer 14:579-607, 1961.
- 28. Starr, S. and Berkovich, S., Effect of measles, gamma-globulin modified measles and vaccine measles on the tuberculin test. New Eng. J. Med. 27:394-397, 1964.
- 29. Urbach, F., Sones, M. and Israel, H. L., Passive Transfer of Tuberculin Sensitivity to Patients with Sarcoidosis, New Engl. J. Med. 247:794-97, 1952.